Ox7w/app

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

AUG 5 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

ORLANDO HERRERA,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 78,290

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Governmental Center/9th Floor
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

ALLEN J. DeWEESE Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the criminal division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution in the Circuit Court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as Petitioner and Respondent.

The following symbol will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was convicted of trafficking in cocaine over 400 grams and resisting arrest without violence (R 1537, 1581). He appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which affirmed on two issues, peremptory challenges of black jurors and the standard jury instruction placing the burden on the defense to prove entrapment, and reversed on one issue, imposition of a consecutive sentence outside of the guidelines. The opinion was filed May 8, 1991 (Appendix to this brief).

A timely motion for certification was filed, and by order of June 21, 1991, the District Court certified the following question (Appendix):

Do Instruction 3.04(c)(2), Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, and Section 777.201(2), Florida Statutes (1989), both applicable to offenses after 1987, unconstitutionally shift the burden to the defense to prove entrapment?

Notice of Intent to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed July 17, 1991 (Appendix).

By order of July 25, 1991, this Court ordered briefing on the merits but postponed its decision on jurisdiction.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner was charged and tried for trafficking and conspiracy along with two co-defendants, Rafael Castillo and Janette Dempster, who were acquitted (R 1523-1524). The arrests were made in a sting initiated by a confidential informant. Petitioner asserted the defense of entrapment (R 651).

At trial, Officer Mintus testified that he was brought into contact with Petitioner by the confidential informant when Mintus was working undercover. Mintus got approval to try to involve Petitioner in a cocaine deal and then rented a hotel room for this purpose. Mintus had the informant, who had been arrested a few days before and was now helping the police, call Petitioner from the hotel room (R 524-533, 648-649). In the afternoon Petitioner came to the hotel room and the informant introduced him to Mintus (R 534-536).

Petitioner agreed to sell Mintus one kilo of cocaine for \$17,000. Mintus showed him \$4,000 and said he would get the rest of it when Mintus saw the cocaine. Petitioner made several phone calls from the room. He then said he could only sell half a kilo for \$10,000. Petitioner said it would be delivered to him home and that he would then bring it to the hotel. Petitioner left at 4:00 (R 537-544).

At 7:00 Petitioner returned. He met Mintus and the informant in the hotel room and then took them down to the parking lot (R 545-546). Waiting at the car to which Petitioner led them were Castillo, Dempster, and Petitioner's four year old son (R 551-552).

Mintus asked Castillo if it was good stuff. Castillo winked and smiled but didn't say anything. Petitioner and Mintus got in the front seat of the car, while Castillo waited outside (R 554-556).

Petitioner pulled a half kilo bag from the floor of the car, offered it to Mintus, told him to try it, and said it was good (R 560). Mintus gave the arrest signal to nearby officers who were monitoring his bodybug, and after some delay they moved in (R 561-566). Petitioner ran off but was chased and caught (R 570).

Petitioner testified on his own behalf that Mintus's confidential informant was known to him as Johnny. Petitioner had taken his car for repairs to Johnny's brother, Zahed. Petitioner had gotten to know the two men. They had an expensive life style and talked about drug dealing. They asked him to get involved, but he always refused (R 1005-1009).

The day before Petitioner was arrested, Johnny and Zahed insisted that Petitioner become involved. He was afraid of them because they made threats to him and they had many firearms. They made threats against Petitioner's family, his wife and child. Petitioner agreed the night before because of the pressure and fear for his family (R 999, 1009, 1018, 1020, 1022-1023).

Johnny and Zahed told Petitioner how to act and how to conduct the deal. In the morning, Johnny called and told him to meet him at Mintus's hotel. Petitioner wanted to get out of it, but the men had guns and he was afraid. He went to the hotel and tried to act like a drug trafficker. Johnny was already there and Mintus's room (R 1022-1025). Petitioner made some phone calls in Spanish which had nothing to do with the deal; it was just that he could make

them for free from the hotel. He tried to call Castillo, but he was not home, so he spoke to someone else there. Petitioner went home (R 1027-1031).

A friend of Zahed's brought the cocaine to Petitioner's house. Petitioner put it under the seat of his car. Castillo and Dempster just happened to show up as he was about to leave, so he invited them along. Petitioner also took his son because he had no one to leave him with (R 1032-1035).

Petitioner returned to the hotel, led Mintus and Johnny down to his car, and gave the cocaine to Mintus. Petitioner ran when the police moved in because Mintus and Johnny ran; Petitioner thought they were being held up (R 1038-1042).

At the jury charge conference, the defense objected to the standard instruction on entrapment, contending that it improperly placed the burden of proof to prove entrapment on the defense (R 1308-1315, 1511). The defense argued entrapment in closing argument (R 1346, 1459). The jury was instructed on entrapment as follows (R 1496-1498):

Orlando Herrera has raised the defense of entrapment.

This means that Orlando Herrera claims he had no prior intention to commit the offense and that he committed it only because he was persuaded or caused to commit the offense by law enforcement officers.

Orlando Herrera was entrapped if he was, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, induced or encouraged to engage in conduct constituting the crime of trafficking in cocaine over four hundred grams and he engaged in such conduct as the direct result of such inducement or encouragement and the person who induced or encouraged him was a law enforcement officer or a person engaged in cooperating with or acting as an agent of a law enforcement officer and the person who induced or encouraged him employed methods of persuasion or inducement which created a substantial risk that the crime would be committed by a person other than one who was ready to commit it and Orlando Herrera was not a person who was ready to commit the crime.

It is not entrapment if Orlando Herrera had the predisposition to commit the crime of trafficking in cocaine over four hundred grams.

Orlando Herrera had the predisposition if before any law enforcement officer or person acting for the law enforcement officer persuaded, induced or lured Orlando Herrera, he had a readiness or willingness to commit trafficking in cocaine over four hundred grams if the opportunity presented itself.

It is also not entrapment merely because a law enforcement officer, in a good faith attempt to detect crime, provided Orlando Herrera the opportunity, means and facilities to commit the offense for which the defendant Orlando Herrera intended to commit and would have committed otherwise or used tricks, decoys or subterfuge to expose the defendant's criminal acts or was present and pretending to aid or assist in the commission of the offense.

On the issue of entrapment, the defendant Orlando Herrera must prove to you by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as the result of an entrapment.

If you find from the evidence that Orlando Herrera was entrapped or if the evidence raises a reasonable doubt about his guilt, you should find him not guilty.

If you have no reasonable doubt, you should find him guilty.

Preceding the entrapment instructions, the following instructions were given on presumption of innocence, burden of proof, and reasonable doubt (R 1494-1496):

The defendants have entered a plea of not guilty. That means that you must presume or believe each defendant is innocent.

The presumption stays with each defendant, as to each material allegation in the Information, through each stage of the trial, until it has been overcome by the evidence to the exclusion of and beyond a reasonable doubt.

To overcome a defendant's presumption of innocence, the State has burden of proving the following two elements:

First: The crime with which each defendant was charged was committed.

Second: That the defendant is the person who committed the crime.

The defendants are not required to prove anything.

Whenever the words reasonable doubt are used, you must consider the following:

A reasonable doubt is not a possible doubt, a speculative, imaginary or forced doubt.

Such a doubt must not influence you to return a verdict of not guilty if you have an abiding conviction of guilt.

On the other hand, if after carefully considering, comparing and weighing all of the evidence, there is not an abiding conviction of guilt or if having a conviction, it is one which is not stable but one which waivers and vacillates, then the charge is not proved beyond every reasonable doubt and you must find the defendant not guilty because the doubt is reasonable.

It is to the evidence introduced during this trial and to it alone that you are to look for that proof.

A reasonable doubt as to the guilt of any or all or both of the defendants may arise from the evidence, a conflict in the evidence or a lack of evidence.

If you have a reasonable doubt, you should find the defendant not guilty. If you have no reasonable doubt, should should [sic] find the defendant guilty.

The following facts are relevant to Point II in this brief:
During jury selection, four black people were on the venire
panel. Only one, Willie Joe Lewis, served on the jury (R 387,
402). Two of the others, Lolita Hawkins and Jewel Thomas, were
struck by the state. Co-defendant Janette Dempster struck the
remaining one, Anthony Canady (R 379, 385, 393, 396-397). The
strikes were upheld by the trial court over defense objection (R
379-397).

The prosecutor asked no questions of any of the four black panel members during voir dire. Counsel for Janette Dempster asked no questions of Canady. Upon examination by the court, Ms. Hawkins stated that she lived in Delray Beach, went to school at Florida Atlantic University, worked as a student assistant in research, and was single (R 98). Mr. Canady stated that he lived in Riviera Beach, worked for the City of West Palm Beach, and was married with two children (R 103). Ms. Thomas stated that she lived in Riviera Beach, worked for the Palm Beach County Division of Human Services, and had one adult child (R 135). Of the other panel members interviewed, two were single (R 95, 102), one was a teacher (R 142), and one was a nursing assistant (R 148).

When called upon to give reasons for the state's strikes, the prosecutor stated the following regarding Ms. Hawkins (R 382-383):

MS. QUEVEDO [Prosecutor]: She is single, she is young, just like Susan Taylor, who I struck. I don't want young jurors. I think they're not going to be mean enough.

She acted completely annoyed, hasn't laughed about anything, just rolls her eyes. She is just annoyed with the whole process.

The prosecutor stated the following regarding Ms. Thomas (R 393):

MS. QUEVEDO: Division of Youth Services, lives in Riviera Beach. I'd like to get to Jeannie Marie Thomas who is a person I want.

The prosecutor initially challenged Mr. Canady also, but the challenge was denied by the court. The reasons given by the prosecutor were (R 388):

MS. QUEVEDO: I didn't ask him enough questions. No one asked him anything which I should have. It is Riviera Beach, bad police relationships there. I don't think -- conservative.

Counsel for Dempster adopted these reasons and in addition stated the following when called upon to give reasons for striking Mr. Canady (R 397):

MR. GOMBERG [Counsel for co-defendant Dempster]: I share the reasons of the state.

THE COURT: Announce those again.

MR. GOMBERG: I don't think, given his background and his youth, that he is likely to be tolerant of the sorts of behavior that would be testified to in this case and be fair and impartial concerning by client.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The new standard jury instruction on entrapment, and the statute upon which it is based, are unconstitutional. Under the Florida Constitution, both the instruction and the statute improperly shift the burden of proof to the defendant to prove entrapment. Under the United States Constitution, although the statute is not unconstitutional on its face, the jury instruction is unconstitutional because the jury is not also instructed that it must consider all the evidence in first determining whether the state has met its primary burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant has committed the crime charged.

II.

The trial court improperly allowed three peremptory challenges of black jurors, two by the state and one by the co-defendant. The reasons given for the challenges were all either without record support or otherwise legally improper.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### POINT I

INSTRUCTION 3.04(c)(2), FLORIDA STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN CRIMINAL CASES, AND SECTION 777.201(2), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), BOTH APPLICABLE TO OFFENSES AFTER 1987, UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFT THE BURDEN TO THE DEFENSE TO PROVE ENTRAPMENT.

# A. Florida Constitutionality

This Court in 1989, in response to the enactment of Section 777.201(2), Florida Statutes (1987), provisionally approved a new standard jury instruction shifting the burden of proof on entrapment to the defendant. In re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 543 So.2d 1205, 1208 (Fla. 1989). The new instruction, tracking the statute, states, "On the issue of entrapment, the defendant must prove to you by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of entrapment." The old instruction stated, "On the issue of entrapment, the state must convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not entrapped."

This Court, in adopting the new standard instruction, explicitly declined to pass on its constitutionality or on the constitutionality of Section 777.201(2). In a footnote on page 1208 of this Court's opinion In re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, supra, this Court noted that the statute does place

This question was certified to this Court because a similar issue was already pending in this Court in <u>State v. Krajewski</u>, Case No. 77,685. The argument in this brief under subheading B of this point on appeal is essentially the same as the argument of the defense in <u>Krajewski</u>. The argument here under subheading A, however, is not. The arguments here are also before this Court in <u>Deleon v. State</u>, Case No. 78,299.

the burden of proof of entrapment on the defendant, but stated that for the limited purpose of adopting the standard instructions the statute's constitutionality must be assumed. This Court stated, "The court deems it inappropriate to pass on the constitutionality of a statute except in adversary proceedings."

The instant case presents the constitutionality of the instruction and the statute in an adversary proceeding appropriate for a decision on constitutionality.

In the instant case, over defense objection (R 1308-1318), the trial court instructed the jury in accordance with the new instruction placing the burden on the defendant (R 1498). The defense had specifically objected to the new instruction's placement of the burden of proof on Respondent (R 1311). The defense also asserted entrapment as its defense and argued it to the jury (R 651, 1346, 1459, 1511). The defense is entitled to have the jury correctly instructed on its theory of defense. Stiglitz v. State, 270 So.2d 410 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). It is always the responsibility of the trial judge to correctly instruct the jury in each case, and the approval of a standard jury instruction does not relieve the trial judge of this responsibility. In the Matter of the Use by the Trial Courts of the Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594, 598 (Fla. 1981).

This Court's decisions on the previous versions of the standard entrapment instruction demonstrate that the new instruction and the statute are unconstitutional under the due process clause of the Florida Constitution because of the burden shift. Article I, Section 9, Florida Constitution. The Florida due process clause offers greater protection to its citizens from

police overreaching than does the Federal Constitution. State v. Glosson, 462 So.2d 1082, 1084-1085 (Fla. 1985).

First, in <u>State v. Wheeler</u>, 468 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1985), this Court adopted the following four-step statement of the burden of proof in an entrapment case:

- (1) the defendant has the burden of adducing any evidence of entrapment;
- (2) the trial court determines the sufficiency of the evidence of entrapment;
- (3) if the evidence of entrapment is sufficient the jury must be instructed that the state has the burden of disproving entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt; and
- (4) the jury should never be instructed on the defendant's burden of adducing evidence.

Steps three and four are governing in the instant case. Following steps one and two, the trial court did determine that entrapment should be submitted to the jury; under steps three and four the court erred, however, in giving an instruction placing the burden on the defense.

Next, in <u>Rotenberry v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 971 (Fla. 1985), this Court approved the then-current version of the standard jury instruction:

If you find from the evidence that the defendant was entrapped, or if the evidence raises a reasonable doubt about the defendant's guilt, you should find him not guilty.

This Court held that this instruction was adequate because it was given in combination with the general instructions on burden of proof and reasonable doubt, which placed the burden of proof on the state. See also McCray v. State, 478 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1985), approving McCray v. State, 433 So.2d 5 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

After <u>Rotenberry</u>, however, this Court returned to the original pre-<u>Rotenberry</u> standard instruction, which explicitly placed the burden of proof on the state to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not entrapped. <u>The Florida Bar re Standard Jury Instructions-Criminal</u>, 508 So.2d 1221 (Fla. 1987). The instruction then adopted was the one termed the "old" instruction in this brief. It was in effect until the 1987 adoption of Section 777.201(2). The instruction stated:

On the issue of entrapment, the state must convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not entrapped.

This, Petitioner submits, is the correct statement of the law. Certainly the new instruction would not have passed muster under Wheeler and Rotenberry. Wheeler stated, "When the defendant has adduced sufficient evidence to make a prima facie case of entrapment, the burden of proof regarding entrapment shifts entirely to the state. After the burden has shifted, no consideration of the defendant's initial burden is permissible."

468 So.2d at 981 (emphasis added). Plainly the new jury instruction is improper further consideration. Rotenberry approved an instruction which in fact made no comment on the burden of proof one way or the other:

If you find from the evidence that the defendant was entrapped, or if the evidence raises a reasonable doubt about the defendant's guilt, you should find him not guilty.

468 So.2d at 972. Based as it was on other instructions clearly placing the burden of proof on the state, the <u>Rotenberry</u> decision would not have approved the new instruction squarely placing the burden on the defense.

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