017

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 6 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 78,290

ORLANDO HERRERA,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
FOURTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
Attorney General
Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER
Bureau Chief, Senior
Assistant Attorney General

DOUGLAS J. GLAID
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar #249475
111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

by a person other than one who was ready to commit it and Orlando Herrera was not a person who was ready to commit the crime.

It is not entrapment if Orlando Herrera had the predisposition to commit the crime of trafficking in cocaine over four hundred grams.

Orlando Herrera had the predisposition if before any law enforcement officer or person acting for the law enforcement officer persuaded, induced or lured Orlando Herrera, he had a readiness or willingness to commit trafficking in cocaine over four hundred grams if the opportunity presented itself.

It is also not entrapment merely because a law enforcement officer, in a good faith attempt to detect crime, provided Orlando Herrera the opportunity, means and facilities to commit the offense which the defendant Orlando Herrera intended to commit and would have committed otherwise or used tricks, decoys or subterfuge to expose the defendant's criminal acts or was present and pretending to aid or assist in the commission of the offense.

On the issue of entrapment, the defendant Orlando Herrera must prove to you by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as the result of an entrapment.

If you find from the evidence that Orlando Herrera was entrapped or if the evidence raises a reasonable doubt about his guilt, you should find him not guilty.

If you have no reasonable doubt, you should find him guilty. (R 1496-1498).

Petitioner submits that the burden to prove predisposition must remain on the State where entrapment is

raised in defense to a crime which has intent or state of mind as an element. The Petitioner, however, is mixing apples and oranges. The defendant in raising an affirmative defense never has a burden of proof but rather a burden of persuasion.

Petitioner in the instant case chose as an affirmative defense entrapment. Petitioner therefore had the burden of persuasion. "Burden of proof" actually encompasses two separate burdens. One burden is that of going forward with evidence. If the party who has the burden of producing evidence does not meet that burden, the consequence is an adverse ruling on the matter at issue. The other burden is the burden of persuasion, which becomes crucial only if the parties have sustained their respective burdens of producing evidence and only when all the evidence has been introduced. It becomes significant if the trier of fact is in doubt; if he is, then the matter must be resolved against the party with the burden of persuasion. See McCormick, Evidence § 337 (3d Ed. 1984). Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986); Cf. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. ___, 110 S.Ct. ___, 111 L.Ed.2d 511 (1990). "It is well within the power of the State to regulate procedures under which its laws are carried out, including the burden of producing evidence and the burden of persuasion." See Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 97 S.Ct. 319, 53 L.Ed.2d 287 (1977). Florida's allocation to the defendant of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result on an entrapment is consistent with due process given

the law in Florida concerning the burden of proving affirmative defenses.

The decisions of federal courts, even those of the United States Supreme Court, are not controlling or even necessarily persuasive in regard to the subject of entrapment in state courts. Bauer v. State, 528 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Entrapment, whether it is recognized as a defense and, if so, how it is pleaded and the burden of proof in regard thereto, has so far remained exclusively within the rule-making and precedent-establishing authority of the particular jurisdiction that recognizes the defense. See Bauer v. State, 528 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). The Bauer court, citing Moody v. State, 359 So.2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), stated as follows:

The federal view of the burden of proof on entrapment is not binding on the States because it is not based on any constitutional requirement. State v. Brown, 287 A.2d 400 (Del.Super. 1972). Thus, California requires by statute that the defendant prove entrapment by a preponderance of the evidence. See, People v. Moran, 1 Cal.3d 755, 83 Cal. Rptr. 411, 463 P.2d 763 (1970). Many states require the defendant to prove entrapment by a preponderance of the evidence before requiring the state to disprove entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Grilli, 304 Minn. 80, 230 N.W.2d 445 (1975); State v. Amundson, 69 Wis.2d 394 (1972). Others adhere to the typical view that a defendant has the burden of proving all affirmative defenses such as self-defense and entrapment by a preponderance of the evidence without placing any burden at all upon the state. Commonwealth v. Wilkes, 414 Pa.246. 199 A.2d 411 (1964), cert. den.,

379 U.S. 939, 85 S.Ct. 344, 13 L.Ed.2d 349 (1969); State v. Rogers, 43 Ohio St.2d 28, 330 N.E.2d 674 (1975). The freedom of the states in this regard is illustrated in Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 210, 97 S.Ct. 2319, 2327, 53 L.Ed.2d 281 (1977) where the Court said:

"We thus decline to adopt as a constitutional imperative operative country-wide, that a State must disprove beyond a reasonable doubt every fact constituting any and all affirmative defenses related to the culpability of an accused.... Proof of the nonexistence of all affirmative defenses has never been constitutionally required...." 359 So.2d at 560.

528 So.2d at 6.

As the United States Supreme Court stated in Patterson v. New York, supra:

It is normally within the power of the State to regulate procedures under which its laws are carried out, including the burden of producing evidence and the burden of persuasion, 'and its decision in this regard is not subject to proscription under the Due Process Clause unless' it offends some principle of justice so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental.

53 L.Ed.2d at 287.

In determining whether Florida's allocation to the defendant of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment is consistent with due process, this court must look to Florida case law with respect to the burden of proving affirmative defenses.

At common law the burden of proving affirmative defenses, indeed "all ... circumstances of justification, excuse

or alleviation," rested on the defendant. 4 W. Blackstone Commentaries, Commentaries 201; M. Foster, Crown Law 255 (1762). Mullaney v. Wilbur, 421 U.S. 684, 693-694, 95 S.Ct. 1881, 44 L.Ed.2d 508 (1975). This was the rule when the Fifth Amendment was adopted, and it was the American rule when the Fourteenth Amendment was ratified. Commonwealth v. York, 50 Mass. 93 (1845), as cited in Patterson v. New York, supra, 53 L.Ed.2d at 287.

In Florida, the burden of persuasion in proving an affirmative defense in a criminal case also rests with the defendant. 23 Fla. Jur. 2d Evidence and Witnesses, § 75 Affirmative Defenses; 29 Am.Jur.2d, Evidence § 156; Priestly v. State, 450 So.2d 289 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Evenson v. State, 277 So.2d 587 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973); Koptyra v. State, 172 So.2d 628 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965).

As the Court in Koptyra v. State held:

While the State always has the burden of proving the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt and the accused never has the burden of proving his innocence, nevertheless, the burden of adducing evidence on the defense of entrapment is on the accused unless the facts relied on otherwise appear in evidence to such an extent as to raise in the minds of the jury a reasonable doubt of guilt.

172 So.2d at 632.

For an interesting analysis, see Martin v. Ohio, 480 U.S. 228, 107 S.Ct. 1098, 94 L.Ed.2d 267 (1986), which held that under the Ohio Revised Code, the burden of proving the elements

of a criminal offense is upon the prosecution, but for an affirmative defense, the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence is placed on the accused. Self defense is an affirmative defense under Ohio law and therefore must be proved by the defendant.

In State v. Wheeler, 468 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1985), the State argued that when this Court adopted instruction 3.04(c) (former instruction - not the instruction involved in the instant cause), the Court altered the substantive law regarding entrapment. In rewriting the earlier jury instruction, 2.11(e), this Court deleted a statement of the burden of proof: "The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not the victim of entrapment by law enforcement officers, and unless it has done so, you should find the defendant not guilty."¹ The State argued that the deletion altered the burden of proof, so that the defendant bore the burden of establishing entrapment as with other affirmative defenses. The Court in Wheeler held this was not the case, as when it adopted the current standard jury instructions in In Re Use by the Trial Courts of the Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases and the Standard Jury Instructions in Misdemeanor Cases, 431 So.2d 594, 595-99 (Fla. 1981). The Court discussed those areas where substantive changes were made. No mention, according to this Court, was made of the entrapment instruction, indicating that it

¹ The full text of both versions of the instruction can be found in Rotenberry v. State, 468 So.2d 971 (Fla. 1985).

did not intend to alter the status quo. This, however, is not the situation now. In Florida Statute §777.201 (1987), and the new Standard Jury Instruction 3.04(c), the intent was very much to change the status quo and to place the burden of establishing entrapment on the defendant as with any other affirmative defense. The case law cited prior to the enactment of the new statute clearly is inapplicable.

For the first time, Petitioner complains in part B. of his brief that the standard jury instruction on entrapment is infirm for allegedly failing to require that the jury look at all the evidence in its determination of whether the state proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt. However, similar to the situation in Krajewski, supra, 16 FLW at 694, no such objection was made to the trial court below and Petitioner's proffered instruction neither expressly nor by implication suggested this alleged inadequacy. (R 1311-1319, 1579). Consequently, as in Krajewski, the State asserts that any supposed defect in this regard was waived. See also Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d). Notwithstanding, even if it had not been waived, the jury instructions given by the trial court were "adequate as a whole to convey the requirement that the jury must consider all the evidence in determining whether the state met its burden of proof." Krajewski, supra, 16 FLW at 694.

Indeed, the applicable statute and jury instruction on entrapment adequately and correctly charged the jury on the substantive law in Florida on this issue. The present entrapment

statute and standard jury instruction clearly are not unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Kinner, 398 So.2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981). Proof of the nonexistence of all affirmative defenses has never been constitutionally required. As no constitutional violation occurred in giving Florida Standard Jury Instruction 3.04(c)(2) to the jury in the instant case, the certified question of the District Court below must be answered in the negative.

POINT II

SINCE PETITIONER FAILED TO CONTEST THE FACTUAL EXISTENCE OF THE REASONS FOR THE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES OF BLACK JURORS BY THE STATE AND BY A CO-DEFENDANT, THE NEIL/SLAPPY ISSUE WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW. (Restated).

A party claiming racial discrimination in the exercise of a peremptory challenge must first object to the challenge, show that the challenged person is a member of a distinct racial group, and make a strong showing that the challenge was motivated by race. State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (1988); State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), clarified, State v. Castillo, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986). If the trial court determines the objection not to be frivolous, the burden shifts to the challenging party to present a "clear and reasonably specific racially neutral explanation" for the challenge. Slappy, 522 So.2d at 22. If the challenging party satisfies this requirement by presenting reasons for the challenge which rebut the accusation of racial prejudice, the inquiry ends and jury selection continues. Neil, 457 So.2d at 487. Further, the trial judge necessarily is vested with broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are racially intended. Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla.), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. 230, 112 L.Ed.2d 184 (1990). As this Court opined in Reed:

Only one who is present at trial can discern the nuances of the spoken word and the demeanor of those involved.

* * *

In trying to achieve the delicate balance between eliminating racial prejudice and the right to exercise peremptory challenges, we must necessarily rely on the inherent fairness and color blindness of our trial judges who are on the scene and who themselves get a "feel" for what is going on in the jury selection process.

Id. at 206.

In the instant case, Petitioner claims that the trial court improperly permitted both the prosecutor and counsel for co-defendant Dempster to peremptorily strike three black prospective jurors from the jury panel. First of all, Petitioner did not meet his initial burden of demonstrating on the record that there was a strong likelihood that the jurors had been challenged solely because of their race. See Reed, supra, 560 So.2d at 205; Taylor v. State, 491 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Moreover, the State submits that although the prosecutor below proffered facially race-neutral reasons for the strikes, Petitioner did not contest the "factual existence" of any of these reasons at trial as specifically required by this Court in Floyd v. State, 569 So.2d 1225, 1229 (Fla. 1990). Consequently, Petitioner's present claim on appeal in this regard was not properly preserved for review.

In Floyd, supra, this Court further clarified the parameters of a trial court's responsibility under Neil and

Slappy to determine whether the state has satisfied its initial burden of proffering a race-neutral reason for peremptory challenges. In no uncertain terms, the Court stated that:

It is the state's obligation to advance a facially race-neutral reason that is supported in the record. If the explanation is challenged by opposing counsel, the trial court must review the record to establish record support for the reason advanced. However, when the state asserts a fact as existing in the record, the trial court cannot be faulted for assuming it is so when defense counsel is silent and the assertion remains unchallenged. Once the state has proffered a facially race-neutral reason, a defendant must place the court on notice that he or she contests the factual existence of the reason.

* * *

Because defense counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's explanation, the Neil issue was not properly preserved for review. Id. at 1229-1230.

In the instant case, as to prospective juror Lolita Hawkins, the State sought to peremptorily strike her and proffered as its reasons the fact that she was young, single and apparently annoyed with the jury selection process. (R 382-383). Although challenging the sufficiency of the State's proffered reasons, Petitioner's counsel clearly did not contest the factual existence of these reasons. (R 383). Notwithstanding, although her age was admittedly not established, there exists record support that Ms. Hawkins was a young college student and single.

(R 97-99, 244). Further, although the cold record would obviously not show Ms. Hawkins' body language, more importantly it is clear that Petitioner's counsel never contested or denied the fact that Ms. Hawkins appeared annoyed. Nor did Petitioner's trial counsel ever factually contest the assertion that Ms. Hawkins was young and single.

Moreover, even though this Court need not reach this issue due to Petitioner's unpreserved claim, the State submits that one's youth and marital status are valid race-neutral reasons for peremptorily challenging a juror in a drug case. Certainly, young, single persons are generally much more inclined to harbor liberal views concerning the possession and use of drugs. As a result, it is not unreasonable that a prosecutor would wish to peremptorily strike such persons as prospective jurors in a drug trafficking case. As the Fourth District significantly reiterated in Taylor, supra at 1151-52, citing Neil, supra at 487, "reasons given for exclusion need not be equivalent to those for a challenge for cause; the prosecutor need only show that the 'challenges were based on the particular case on trial, the parties or witnesses, or characteristics of the challenged persons other than race.'" See also, Thomas v. State, 502 So.2d 994 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

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